RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Dec 08, 2016, 2:30 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

Supreme Court No. Court of Appeals No. 48601-6-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ARTHUR WEST,

Plaintiff/Respondent

v.

STEVE VERMILLION & CITY OF PUYALLUP,

Defendants/Petitioners

PETITION FOR REVIEW OF THE PUBLISHED OPINION OF DIVISION II OF THE COURT OF APPEALS

Joe Beck, WSBA #26789 Shawn Arthur, WSBA #34139 Puyallup City Attorney's Office 333 South Meridian, 4th Floor Puyallup, WA 98371 (253) 841-5598 Ramsey Ramerman, WSBA #30423 Ramerman Law Office PLLC 218 Main Street, #319 Kirkland, WA 98033 RamseyRamerman@gmail.com (206) 949-6234

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Defendant/Petitioners City of Puyallup and its former Councilmember Steve Vermillion ask this Court to review Division II's published decision in *West v. Vermillion*, COA No. 48601-6 (11/8/16).

II. INTRODUCTION

First Amendment rights are different. The Supreme Court should accept review of *West v. Vermillion* because the Court of Appeals (COA) failed to take these differences into account when it refused to address the merits of Vermillion's First Amendment claims. If the *West v. Vermillion* decision is allowed to stand, it will have a chilling effect on the First Amendment rights of every elected official in the state – along with their constituents and political supporters. Review is therefore appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4).

This Court did not address First Amendment rights in *Nissen v. Pierce County*, 183 Wn.2d 863, 357 P.3d 45 (2015). Petitioners argued to Division II that neither the text of the Public Records Act (PRA) itself, nor the "scope of employment" test adopted in *Nissen* gives elected officials the guidance they need to sort out public records that commingled with their constitutionally protected private political papers.

The COA refused to consider the merits of this First Amendment claim, ruling Vermillion must first produce his private political emails to the City so the City can determine which emails are protected by the First Amendment. This would amount to the warrantless search and seizure of Vermillion's private political correspondence.

There cannot be any greater affront to the values embodied in the First and Fourth Amendments (and Article 1, Section 7) than a statute that allows government officials to seize the private political correspondence of dissident politicians.¹ "[I]nvolvement in partisan politics is closely protected by the First Amendment." In fact, "First Amendment protection is at its zenith" when protecting political rights.³ The "compelled disclosure [of political correspondence], in itself, can seriously infringe on privacy of association and belief guaranteed by the First Amendment" because "[a]wareness that the Government may be watching chills associational and expressive freedoms." The people must be free to privately voice concerns to their elected representatives because "the whole concept of representation depends upon the ability of the people to make their wishes known to their representatives."

By refusing to address the merits of Vermillion's First Amendment claim until he sacrificed those rights, the COA ruling gives Vermillion and other elected officials in Washington State less privacy protection in their political papers than the Supreme Court gave President Nixon after Watergate. In fact, this Court has recently given more privacy protections

¹ See Stanford v. Texas, 379 U.S. 476 (1965) (citing "Case of the Seized Papers"); see also State v. McCollum, 17 Wn.2d 85, 101, 136 P.2d 165 (1943) (opinion of Millard, J.) The "Case of the Seized Papers" is analyzed in Vermillion's opening brief at pages 13-15.

² Nixon v. Admin. of Gen. Serv., 433 U.S. 425, 467 (1977) (quotations omitted).

³ Meyer v. Grant, 486 U.S. 414, 425 (1988) (quotation omitted).

⁴ Nixon, 433 U.S at 467 (quotations omitted).

⁵ State v. Hinton, 179 Wn.2d 862, 877, 319 P.3d 9 (2014).

⁶ E. R. R. Pres. Conf. v. Noerr Motor Freight, Inc., 365 U.S. 127, 137, 81 S.Ct. 523 (1961). This does not mean a law could never require the disclosure of such communications, but such a law must be subjected to First Amendment scrutiny.

to the communications of a heroin addict with his dealer,⁷ and to the private papers of a child pornographer⁸ than the COA ruled elected officials deserve to have in their private political communications with their constituents and supporters.

By placing the privacy rights of elected officials below that of a crook, drug addicts and pornographers, the COA has ignored decades' worth of First Amendment case law. If this Court does not accept review, that holding will have a significant chilling effect on the First Amendment rights of every elected official in the state. See RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4).

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case concerns what obligation the City of Puyallup and a former City Councilmember Steve Vermillion have to respond to a PRA request from Arthur West for emails sent to Vermillion's private email account ⁹ that were "concerning the City of Puyallup, City business, or any matters related to City governance the City Council and mayor, or his membership on the City Council." CP 40-41.

⁷ Hinton, 179 Wn.2d at 877.

⁸ State v. Besola, 184 Wn.2d 605, 611, 359 P.3d 799 (2015).

⁹ The original request sought "All records of communications received by or communications or posting by Steve Vermillion concerning the City of Puyallup, City business, or any matters related to City governance the City Council and mayor, or his membership on the City Council," but West later narrowed the request to "the communications received or posted by Mr. Vermillion at or on his website." The request also included two other categories of records that were fulfilled and not at issue. CP 40-41. Although West purported to exclude campaign-related emails from his request, he has continued to demand the disclosure of emails with political contributors so the scope of his exclusion is unclear and meaningless for the purposes of Vermillion's First Amendment challenge. See, e.g., Respondent West's Amended Opening Brief at 41.

Because Vermillion used this email account and associated website for his political activity including his communications with constituents and political supporters, and because the vague definition of "public record" gave him no ability to distinguish between public records and private political records, Vermillion refused to provide the records. CP 69-71. The City supported this decision.

West sued, seeking a forensic search of Vermillion's computer. CP 97. After cross-motions for summary judgment, the trial court ruled in favor of West in part, but stayed that ruling and certified the case for immediate review. CP 182-86. After this Court issued its decision in *Nissen*, it denied Vermillion and the City's motion for direct review and transferred the case to Division II. Division II has now issued its decision but refused to address the merits of Vermillion's First Amendment claim. Petitioners now seek discretionary review.

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Does the definition of "public record" provide sufficient guidance under a First Amendment standard to allow an elected official to distinguish between "public records" and private political records, or is that definition overbroad or vague?

Does the PRA violate Article 1, Section 7 by implicitly allowing agencies to search and seize private political papers of elected officials without a warrant?

Is an elected official required to turn his private political papers over to the government before he can assert that it would violate his First Amendment privacy rights if he had to turn his private political papers over to the government?

V. ARGUMENT

A. The COA Decision Conflicts with *Nissen & Nixon* by Mandating the Warrantless Search and Seizure of the Private Political Writings of Elected Officials

The COA claimed it was only applying *Nissen* to Vermillion's claims but failed to grasp the constitutional significance of this Court's reliance on *Nison* and other rulings in that case.

1. <u>The COA Decision Failed to Recognize the Careful</u> Constitutional Balance this Court Struck in *Nissen*

In *Nissen*, this Court reaffirmed that personal records on a private electronic device warrant constitutional protection because they contain "a wealth of detail about [a person's] familial, political, professional, religious, and sexual associations." *Nissen*, 183 Wn.2d at 883 (quoting *Hinton*, 179 Wn.2d at 869). At the same time, this Court held that employees do not have any expectation of privacy in "public records." *Nissen*, 183 Wn.2d at 883 & n.10.

The constitutional challenge this Court faced was how to extract the public records that are commingled with constitutionally protected records and stored in a constitutionally protected location.¹⁰ If the Court interpreted the PRA in a way that would compel the production of the private records

¹⁰ Nissen, 183 Wn.2d at 883 ("Because an individual has no constitutional privacy interest in a public record, Lindquist's challenge is necessarily grounded in the constitutional rights he has in personal information comingled with those public records.") (footnotes omitted).

along with public records, it would violate Lindquist's constitutional privacy rights. But if he could use the PRA's definition of "public record" to sort his emails, this would protect Lindquist's privacy rights by only requiring him to produce public records.

This Court, however, also recognized that the PRA's definition of "public records," as records "containing information relating to the conduct of government," did not provide sufficient guidance because private records could still "refer to, comment on, or mention the employee's public duties," and thus contain information relating to the conduct of government. *Nissen*, 183 Wn.2d at 880-81 & n.8, 887. To resolve the dilemma, the Court added the "scope of employment" element to the definition of "public record," which allowed employees to easily distinguish between "public records" and private records. *Id.* at 877.

The Court's "self-search" solution works for employees only because the "scope of employment" test provides sufficient guidance in most situations; the employee will inherently "know" whether they are wearing their "employee" hat or their "personal" hat when they create and receive records. The Court presumed that this test would allow Lindquist "to review [a transcript of the content of all the text messages at issue] and produce to the County any that are public records consistent with [the *Nissen*] opinion." *Nissen*, 183 Wn.2d at 888 (emphasis added). Thus, the Court's decision and remand order ensured that Lindquist could apply this new definition to sort out any public records, which meant no one else would get access to his private constitutionally protected communications.

The Petitioners have claimed that even after *Nissen*, the definition of "public record" needs additional refinement to allow Vermillion, as an elected legislative official, to distinguish between public records and private constitutionally protected political records; otherwise the definition was constitutionally overbroad or vague. But rather than apply the reasoning in *Nissen* and supply such guidance, the COA ordered Vermillion to produce all of his responsive emails before it would consider which emails were constitutionally protected by the First Amendment. This compelled production not only would violate the First Amendment, it would also amount to an illegal search and seizure under Article 1, Section 7.¹¹

2. The COA Failed to Apply the First Amendment Balancing Test Mandated by the Supreme Court in *Nixon*

The COA also misconstrued this Court's citation to the *Nixon* decision in *Nissen* to hold that Vermillion could not have a First Amendment privacy interest in public records. But *Nixon* only supports the constitutionality of a dichotomy between "public records" and "private

¹¹ It is not clear whether the Court's search procedure imposed a binding duty on employees to search their own records and produce any "public records," or if the Court simply made agencies liable for producing such records. The body of the opinion suggests the latter, as demonstrated by the Court's emphasis on the importance of agency policies. But the Court's specific order seems to require Lindquist to produce any text messages that fit into the Court's new definition of "public record," A government order requiring someone to turn over records to the government for inspection is a Fourth Amendment "search" that requires a warrant and authority in law. See, e.g., City of Los Angles v. Patel, -- U.S. --, 135 S.Ct. 2443 (2015) (statute that required hotel owners to turn over certain business records for inspection by police was facially unconstitutional under the Fourth Amendment); Seymour v. State, 152 Wn. App. 156, 216 P.3d 1039 (2009) (warrantless order to turn over business records was unconstitutional search); Delia v. City of Rialto, 621 F.3d 1069, 1077 (9th Cir. 2010) (order to government employee to retrieve items from home to make available for inspection by city attorney was unconstitutional search), rev'd in part on other grounds sub nom., Filarsky v. Delia, -- U.S. --, 132 S.Ct. 1657 (2012).

records" if "public records" are properly defined. This is why this Court had to adopt the scope of employment test.

Moreover, while this Court did not consider a First Amendment challenge in *Nissen*, in *Nixon*, the U.S. Supreme Court held that political correspondence was entitled to the same privacy protections as private personal correspondence. *Nixon*, 433 U.S. at 466-67. The Supreme Court therefore had to conduct a First Amendment balancing test to assess Nixon's challenge. It was only because of two unique factual circumstances that the Supreme Court concluded that "the First Amendment claim is clearly outweighed by the important governmental interests promoted by the Act." *Nixon*, 433 U.S. at 467-68.

Those two unique factual circumstances that tipped the scale in favor of disclosure in *Nixon* are not present in the case at bar. First, in *Nixon*, the public's interest in seizing the private records was extraordinary because the private personal and political records were commingled with all of Nixon's official presidential papers, "to which great public interest attached." *Nixon*, 433 U.S. at 456. In other words, the only way the public could preserve the historical record of Nixon's presidency was to also seize his private records.

Here, no such great public interest exists because access to Vermillion's emails through the PRA would provide little, if any, insight into the conduct of government beyond what is already provided for using other disclosure tools. First, all of Vermillion's emails sent to or from anyone using a City of Puyallup email address is already subject to

disclosure under the PRA. Second, absent a violation of the Open Public Meetings Act (OPMA), Vermillion cannot take any action on behalf of the City in emails. Third, if there were any evidence of an OPMA violation or any illegal conduct, Vermillion's emails could be accessed through criminal or civil discovery. Thus, in a First Amendment balancing analysis the public "need" weighing in favor of disclosure would be the "need" for access to emails where no government action is taken, no city employee is involved, and where there is no evidence to suggest illegal conduct occurred.

Second, the Presidential Record Act had significant protections that served to minimize the burden on Nixon's privacy. These protections included strict limitations on who could review the records to determine what records were private and would be returned to Nixon, along with internal review procedures Nixon could use before he had to resort to the courts if he disagreed with an archivist's determination of what should be disclosed.¹²

In contrast, if Vermillion were required to turn over his private political correspondence to the City, the PRA would provide few, if any, safeguards to protect Vermillion's privacy. First, nothing in the PRA limits who at the City would be allowed to review the records. Second, short of

¹² Nixon, 433 U.S. at 468 ("But a compelling public need that cannot be met in a less restrictive way will override those interests, particularly when the free functioning of our national institutions is involved. . . . The extent of any such burden, however, is speculative in light of the Act's terms protecting appellant from improper public disclosures and guaranteeing him full judicial review before any public access is permitted."); see also Nixon v. Freeman, 670 F.2d 346, 351-54 (D.C. Cir. 1982) (describing the protections provided by the screening and review process).

suing the City, there is nothing that would give Vermillion any recourse if he and the City disagreed about what should be withheld. Third, such a disagreement would be highly likely given the complete lack of guidance in the PRA regarding political records, and the absence of any general privacy exemption.

Thus, had the COA complied with the mandate of *Nixon* and balanced the public's need for disclosure against harm such disclosure would cause, the factual differences likely would have led to a different result. But instead of conducting the mandated analysis, the COA just relied on the result in the *Nixon* case as if this Court had held in *Nixon* that the mandated disclosure of political records will never "inhibit the freedom of political activity and did not reduce the quantity and diversity of political speech and association." *West v. Vermillion*, supra, at ¶31 (citing *Nixon*, 433 U.S. at 468).

Instead of considering whether the factual differences in the case affected the First Amendment balancing analysis, the COA accused the Petitioners of ignoring the "dissimilarities", implying the factual differences made the case inapplicable. Finally, the COA suggested that this Court implicitly rejected any First Amendment claim because it cited to *Nixon* in the *Nissen* decision.

Thus by relying on the results in *Nissen* and *Nixon*, while ignoring the holdings in those cases, the COA failed to address the merits of Vermillion's First Amendment claim that the current definition of public record does not allow Vermillion or any elected official to distinguish

between private political correspondence and public records. ¹³ This failure conflicts with *Nissen* and *Nixon* and justifies review by this Court.

B. The COA Ignored Decades of Supreme Court Precedent When It Failed to Address the Merits of Petitioners' First Amendment Arguments

The COA decision not to review the merits of the Petitioners' First amendment challenge not only conflicts with *Nissen* and *Nison*, it is also in direct conflict with 40 years of First Amendment precedent and will have a chilling effect on every elected official in this state that wants to engage in private political correspondence.

1. First Amendment Rights Are Different

Laws that implicate First Amendment rights are not given the standard presumption of constitutionality. ¹⁴ Instead, statutes that implicate First Amendment rights must be "sharply drawn" to give persons "wide latitude" so persons have "breathing space" to exercise their rights.

Vague and overbroad laws "raise special First Amendment concerns" because they can violate First Amendment rights merely by having a chilling effect, making persons sacrifice their rights to avoid violating the law. Accordingly, in First Amendment challenges, there "is an exception to the general rule that a litigant cannot rely on hypothetical

¹³ It is noteworthy that for most, if not all, other employees, the *Nissen* test will allow those employees to distinguish between public records and political activity because employees cannot engage in political activity while acting as employees.

¹⁴ State v. Homan, 181 Wn.2d 102, 111 n.7, 330 P.3d 182 (2014).

¹⁵ Voter's Educ, Committee v. PDC, 161 Wn.2d 470, 846, 166 P.3d 1174 (2007).

¹⁶ WSRP v. PDC, 141 Wn.2d 245, 265-66, 4 P.3d 808 (2000).

¹⁷ Citizens United v. FEC, 558 U.S. 310, 329 (2010).

¹⁸ Reno v. Am. Civil Liberties Union, 521 U.S. 844, 871-72 (1997).

conduct to argue the unconstitutionality of a statute."¹⁹ This is because "[i]n the First Amendment context, a 'chilling effect' on First Amendment rights is a recognized present harm, not a future speculative harm, which allows third party standing when the law in question burdens constitutionally protected conduct."²⁰

"In a democratic society, privacy of communication is essential if citizens are to think and act creatively and constructively. Fear or suspicion that one's speech is being monitored . . . can have a seriously inhibiting effect upon the willingness to voice critical and constructive ideas."²¹

A statute that mandates the disclosure of private political correspondence implicating First Amendment rights should be reviewed under these standards. But the COA refused to review that claim, asserting it could not make an "advisory" ruling and had to review the actual emails at issue.

2. <u>Courts Will Give Advisory Rulings on Hypothetical Facts in First Amendment Challenges to Protect Against Any "Chilling Effect"</u>

Since at least 1974, this Court has held that litigants can raise First Amendment challenges based on hypothetical facts because restrictions on First Amendment rights have an unconstitutional "chilling effect" on the exercise of those rights. *Fritz v. Gorton*, 83 Wn.2d 275, 311 n.5, 517 P.2d 911 (1974) (citing *NAACP v. Button*, 371 U.S. 415 (1963)). This Court

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