RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Jan 23, 2017, 8:40 am

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

No. 48601-6-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STEVE VERMILLION AND THE CITY OF PUYALLUP, appellants,

V.

ARTHUR WEST, respondent

RESPONDENT'S REPLY BRIEF IN OPPOSITION TO DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

> ARTHUR WEST 120 STATE AVE. NE # 1497 OLYMPIA, WASHINGTON, 98501

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

Also pertinent to our analysis is the fact that the PRA is not a prohibition on speech, but instead a disclosure requirement. "[D]isclosure requirements may burden the ability to speak, but they . . . do not prevent anyone from speaking." <u>Citizens United v. Federal Election Comm'n</u>, 558 U. S. ____, ___ (2010) (slip op., at 51) (internal

quotation marks omitted). John Doe No. 1 v. Reed, 561 U.S. 186, 130 S.Ct. 2811 (2010)

Absent any real potential for the type of significant threats, harassment, or retaliatory conduct the plaintiffs attempted to establish in Doe, nondiscriminatory post-communication disclosure requirements simply do not substantially burden speech or create any type of a chilling effect, especially when the individual is the original arbiter of disclosure

Justice Stevens, in his concurrence in Doe, observed...

As a matter of law, the Court is correct to keep open the possibility that in particular instances in which a policy such as the PRA burdens expression "by the public enmity attending publicity," Brown v. Socialist Workers '74 Campaign Comm. (Ohio), 459 U. S. 87, 98 (1982), speakers may have a winning constitutional claim. "[F]rom time to time throughout history," persecuted groups have been able "to criticize oppressive practices and laws either anonymously or not at all."... In my view, this is unlikely to occur in cases involving the PRA. Any burden on speech that petitioners posit is speculative as well as indirect. For an as applied challenge to a law such as the PRA to succeed, there would have to be a significant threat of harassment...that cannot be mitigated by law enforcement measures. Doe v. Reed, Stevens, concurring, (emphasis added)

Similarly, the majority Opinion in Doe concluded...

Faced with the State's unrebutted arguments that only modest burdens attend the disclosure of a typical petition, we must reject plaintiffs' broad challenge to the PRA. John Doe No. 1 v. Reed, 561 U.S. 186, 130 S.Ct. 2811 (2010)

Niether the City nor Puyallup Council Member Vermillion has asserted that even a modest burden would attend Vermillion's own review and

the subsequent disclosure under the PRA of the public records he produced within the scope of his employment as a public officer.

Council Member Vermillion has not alleged that he was a member of the communist party, engaged in a highly contentious debate over who should enjoy the privileges of connubium or discussions advocating the violent overthrow of the United States, or any other highly objectionable subjects that could be expected to lead to threats, violence or reprisals.

Therefore, absent any showing sufficient to require any serious weighing of a substantial burden on speech or assembly having been made, the appellants' challenge must fail, and the "hypothetical" issues they attempt to develop are simply far too indirect, attenuated and speculative to support any form of serious or adequate review.

Under these circumstances, there is and can be no colorable claim of any substantial burden on speech or assembly or any potential illegal "seizure" or "chilling effect" resulting from the operation of the narrowly tailored mechanism for self review developed by this Court in Nissen.

D. Appellants fail or refuse to recognize that the gravity of the evils that the PRA seeks to prevent more than justify any possible de minimus intrusion into constitutional privacy interests from a narrowly tailored non-intrusive self-review process that, by design, does not authorize unreasonable seizures or invasion of constitutional privacy rights........

For over forty years, the Public Records Act has been seen as furthering a compelling interest in open and accountable government, an interest recognized as essential to the fundamental necessity of the preservation of democratic institutions and the people's sovereignty.

One purpose of the PDA is to "ensure the sovereignty of the people and the accountability of the governmental agencies that serve them" by providing full access to information concerning the conduct of government." Amren v. City of Kalama, 131 Wash.2d 15, 31, 929 P.2d 389 (1997):

In Nissen, this Court recognized that...

If the PRA did not capture records individual employees prepare, own, use, or retain in the course of their jobs, the public would be without information about much of the daily operation of government. Such a result would be an affront to the core policy underpinning the PRA—the public's right to a transparent government. That policy, itself embodied in the statutory text, guides our interpretation of the PRA. (Nissen, citations omitted)

Similarly, in <u>Doe v. Reed</u>, the federal Supreme Court, in conformity with these fundamental principles, rejected, by an 8-1 majority, a 1st Amendment challenge to the Washington State Public Records Act, holding that...

Public disclosure also promotes transparency and accountability in the electoral process to an extent other measures cannot. In light of the foregoing, we reject plaintiffs' argument and conclude that public disclosure of referendum petitions in general is substantially related to the important interest of preserving the integrity of the electoral process. Doe, v. Reed, 561 U.S. 186, 130 S.Ct. 2811 (2010)

It would be irrational to conclude that the public interest in transparency and accountability ceases when a public official is elected. If

anything, these interests are more compelling in regard to an elected official exercising the duties of public office than a candidate for office.

The arguments of the appellants in this case attempt to make a simple matter overly complex, and deny the basic realities of the just exercise of the powers of democratic government and of responsible public service in deference to their profoundly jaundiced view of "privacy".

Appellants also fail to acknowledge that previous, nearly identical constitutional challenges to similar requirements for disclosure under the Public Records Act have been repeatedly upheld for over 40 years.

In 1974, the Supreme Court addressed the first constitutional challenge to the (then entitled) Public Disclosure Act, soundly rejecting many of the same arguments the defendants in this case attempt to assert again, over 40 years later. Significantly, the Fritz Court ruled...

The constitutional safeguards which shield and protect the communicator, perhaps more importantly also assure the public the right to receive information in an open society. Time, Inc. v. Hill, 385 U.S. 374, 17 L. Ed. 2d 456, 87 S. Ct. 534 (1967). Freedom of speech without the corollary freedom to receive would seriously discount the intendment, purpose and effect of the First Amendment. Fritz v. Gorton, 83 Wn.2d 275, 517 P.2d 911 (1974)

More specifically, the Court in Fritz concluded that...

Irrespective of how ill advised we or others may think some portions of section 24 may be, it is within the power of the people to prescribe informational standards or disclosure qualifications relative to public office.

Similarly, the federal Supreme Court, in Doe v. Reed, 561 U.S. 186 (2010), more recently upheld the disclosure of signatures on initiative petitions under the PRA in response to a 1st Amendment challenge, finding that such disclosure requirements, which do not directly obstruct or suppress speech, are subject to intermediate scrutiny, which requires only "a 'substantial relation' between the disclosure requirement and a 'sufficiently important' government interest."

In Doe, the "burden" on 1st Amendment expression was the alleged potential for harassment, threats, and reprisals, stemming from historic retaliatory conduct in California, in the context of the contentious and highly charged atmosphere of the extra-heterosexual marriage furor.

Significantly, the Doe decision and the concurring opinions support a reasonable balancing fatal to the claims of the City in this case

In circumstances where, as here, "a law significantly implicates competing constitutionally protected interests in complex ways," the Court balances interests. Nixon v. Shrink Missouri Government PAC, 528 U. S. 377, 402 (2000) (BREYER, J., concurring). "And in practice that has meant asking whether the statute burdens any one such interest in a manner out of proportion to the statute's salutary effects upon the others." Ibid. As I read their opinions, this is what both the Court and JUSTICE STEVENS do. See ante, at 7 (opinion of the Court); post, at 2 (STEVENS, J., concurring in part and concurring in judgment). Doe v. Reed, 561 U.S. 186 (2010) Justice Breyer, concurring.

This reasonable balancing, dating back to the determination of Learned Hand in Dennis v. United States, 341 U.S. 494 (1951) is the

anathema to the worldview of the defendants who believe, like the sophists before them, that man (or in this case Vermillion) is the measure of all things, and that the 1st Amendment interests of the entire Polis must bow before one man's improperly commingled public-private interests.

Justice Sotomayor's concurrence also, when impartially evaluated, has little support for Mr. Vermillion's concept of secret government

("[T]ransparency enables the electorate to make informed decisions and give proper weight to different speakers and messages")... In a society "in which the citizenry is the final judge of the proper conduct of public business," openness in the democratic process is of "critical importance." Cox Broadcasting Corp. v. Cohn, 420 U. S. 469, 495 (1975); see also post, at 4 (SCALIA, J., concurring in judgment) (noting that "[t]he public nature of federal lawmaking is constitutionally required"). On the other side of the ledger, I view the burden of public disclosure on speech and associational rights as minimal in this context. As this Court has observed with respect to campaign-finance regulations, "disclosure requirements . . . 'do not prevent anyone from speaking.' Doe v. Reed, Justice Sotomayor, concurring

Perhaps Justice Scalia's concurrence best expressed the inherently open nature of our political system.

Requiring people to stand up in public for their political acts fosters civic courage, without which democracy is doomed. For my part, I do not look forward to a society which, ..., campaigns anonymously...and even exercises the direct democracy of initiative and referendum hidden from public scrutiny and protected from the accountability of criticism. This does not resemble the Home of the Brave. Doe v. Reed, Justice Scalia, concurring

Perhaps the reason appellants failed to address the decision in Doe in their petition is that it is fatal to their fanciful constitutional claims in this case. Their case is even less viable in that, contrary to their claims, both the Supreme Court and Court of Appeals in this State have also rejected these same 1st Amendment claims they now seek to re-adjudicate.

It is beyond reasonable debate that the disclosure provisions of the Public Records Act are "substantially related" to a number of important government interests, including the fundamental interest in the sound governance of a free society, and thus, as the Court of Appeals recognized, the non-intrusive mechanism approved by the Supreme Court in Nissen for disclosure of public records is reasonable and not subject to a constitutional attack as violative of any 1st or 4th Amendment rights.

The appellants also fail to recognize that the self review procedure established by this Court is as narrowly tailored and non intrusive as possible without rendering the PRA ineffectual and meaningless.

(T)he public's statutory right to public records does not extinguish an individual's constitutional rights in private information. But we do not read the PRA as a zero-sum choice between personal liberty and government accountability. Instead, we turn to well-settled principles of public disclosure law and hold that an employee's good-faith search for public records on his or her personal device can satisfy an agency's obligations under the PRA. Nissen, at 195

In <u>Nissen</u>, This Court defined this good faith search as follows:

The PRA allows a trial court to resolve disputes about the nature of a record "based solely on affidavits," RCW 42.56.550(3), without an in camera review, without searching for records itself, and without infringing on an individual's constitutional privacy interest in private information he or she keeps at work.

Where an employee withholds personal records from the employer, he or she must submit an affidavit with facts sufficient to show the information is not a "public record" under the PRA... When done in good faith, this procedure allows an agency to fulfill its responsibility to search for and disclose public records without unnecessarily treading on the constitutional rights of its employees. See Nissen, at 197

The procedure developed by this Court is reasonable and narrowly tailored to be as non-intrusive as possible, yet still effectuate the PRA. Such a minimally intrusive procedure satisfies the Nixon standard and does not constitute an unreasonable search or seizure or invasion of any constitutional right that is fairly protected under the 1st or 4th Amendments or Article 1 section 16 of the Constitution of the State of Washington.

Contrary to the appellant's claims, this type of minimal and necessary "intrusion" does not impermissibly burden any penumbral 1st or 4th Amendment constitutional privacy right held by public officials.

F. Appellants fail or refuse to recognize that their legislative "reform" agenda should be pursued through the legislative process, not in the judicial arena

Finally, the appellants' legislative agenda is wholly out of place in a proceeding before the Judiciary, and demonstrates that, far from seeking a judicial interpretation of existing law, they are attempting to employ the Judiciary to indirectly further their legislative agenda of re-writing the Public Records Act in a manner that they alone believe is an improvement.

The City and Mr. Vermillion, to the extent they may have any legitimate legislative agenda to pursue, should be directed to address these concerns to the proper forum, which, of course, is not this Court.

CONCLUSION

The primary rights we should be concerned with in this case are those of the public to open, accountable, and transparent government in a democratic society. Public servants like former Puyallup City Council Member Vermillion and Pierce County Prosecutor Mark Lindquist are not above the law, but, like the rest of us, are subject to reasonable and necessary requirements attendant upon citizenship in a democratic society.

If constituents and political supporters could communicate covertly with their elected representatives to conduct the public's business, political corruption, ward healing, violations of the Appearance of Fairness Doctrine and, more significantly, violations of the Open Public Meetings Act like those actually perpetrated by appellant Vermillion and the Puyallup City Council would go unknown and undetected.

Development projects could be pre-approved for favored political contributors, bribes could be secretly tendered, votes could be gerrymandered, and City resources could be misdirected to the benefit of political supporters instead of the general public, all without any fear of discovery.

Under such circumstances, the corrupt practices of Huey Long in Louisiana and Boss Tweed in Tammany Hall would be the model for elected officials in the State of Washington under the appellant's expansive view of absolute freedom of speech and association, even when such "freedom" is employed by the peoples' public servants for manifestly corrupt and improper purposes. Yet the Constitution is not a "suicide pact" of the type that would, to the detriment of all other concerns, authorize such serious misconduct under the dubious guise of absolute freedom of "private" speech.

As the Supreme Court recognized in <u>John Doe No. 1 v. Reed</u>, 561 U.S. 186, 130 S.Ct. 2811 (2010), in upholding the PRA against a personal privacy and 1st Amendment based challenge, the State has a compelling interest in preventing fraud and in the integrity of elected officials.

Any intrusion into a competing interest of former Puyallup City Council member Vermillion that might result from the review process carefully tailored by this Court to be as non-intrusive as possible while still effectuating the PRA is so attenuated, insubstantial and hypothetical that there is no basis for any further constitutional review by this Court.

The appellants' latest attempt to seek review should be denied and this case returned to the Superior Court for further proceedings.